

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE

MONDAY 18TH NOVEMBER 2019 AT 6.00 P.M.

PARKSIDE HALL, PARKSIDE, MARKET STREET, BROMSGROVE, WORCESTERSHIRE, B61 8DA

MEMBERS: Councillors H. J. Jones (Chairman), P. J. Whittaker (Vice-Chairman), A. B. L. English, M. Glass, C.A. Hotham, S. A. Hughes, H. D. N. Rone-Clarke, M. A. Sherrey, C. J. Spencer and J. Till

<u>AGENDA</u>

- 1. To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes
- 2. Declarations of Interest

To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm the nature of those interests.

- 3. To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Licensing Committee held on 23rd September 2019 (Pages 1 - 6)
- 4. Review of Street Collection Policy (Pages 7 32)
- 5. Animal Activity Licensing Information Report (Pages 33 64)
- 6. Licensing Committee Work Programme 2019/2020 (Pages 65 66)

7. To consider any other business, details of which have been notified to the Head of Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services prior to the commencement of the meeting and which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, considers to be of so urgent a nature that it cannot wait until the next meeting

> K. DICKS Chief Executive

Parkside Market Street BROMSGROVE Worcestershire B61 8DA

8th November 2019



INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC

Access to Information

The Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 widened the rights of press and public to attend Local Authority meetings and to see certain documents. Recently the Freedom of Information Act 2000 has further broadened these rights, and limited exemptions under the 1985 Act.

- You can attend all Council, Cabinet and Committee/Board meetings, except for any part of the meeting when the business would disclose confidential or "exempt" information.
- You can inspect agenda and public reports at least five days before the date of the meeting.
- You can inspect minutes of the Council, Cabinet and its Committees/Boards for up to six years following a meeting.
- You can have access, upon request, to the background papers on which reports are based for a period of up to six years from the date of the meeting. These are listed at the end of each report.
- An electronic register stating the names and addresses and electoral areas of all Councillors with details of the membership of all Committees etc. is available on our website.
- A reasonable number of copies of agendas and reports relating to items to be considered in public will be made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its Committees/Boards.
- You have access to a list specifying those powers which the Council has delegated to its Officers indicating also the titles of the Officers concerned, as detailed in the Council's Constitution, Scheme of Delegation.

You can access the following documents:

- Meeting Agendas
- Meeting Minutes
- The Council's Constitution

at <u>www.bromsgrove.gov.uk</u>

This page is intentionally left blank

Licensing Committee 23rd September 2019

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE

MONDAY, 23RD SEPTEMBER 2019, AT 6.00 P.M.

PRESENT: Councillors H. J. Jones (Chairman), A. B. L. English, M. Glass, C.A. Hotham (during Minute No's. 12/19 to 14/19), S. A. Hughes, C. J. Spencer, M. Thompson, J. Till and S. A. Webb (Substitute)

Officers: Mrs. V. Brown, Mr. D. Etheridge and Mrs. P. Ross

9/19 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M. A. Sherrey and H. D. N. Rone-Clarke.

The Committee were informed that Councillor S. A. Webb was in attendance as the substitute Member for Councillor M. A. Sherrey.

10/19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

11/19 **MINUTES**

The minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 15th July were submitted.

<u>RESOLVED</u> that the minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 15th July 2019, be approved as a correct record.

12/19 AMENDMENTS TO HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE PENALTY POINTS SCHEME - RESULTS OF CONSULTATION

The Committee considered a report which provided details of the consultation exercise carried out on the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Point Scheme.

The Senior Practitioner (Licensing), Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS), presented the report and in doing so provided a brief synopsis for the benefit of newly elected Members.

In November 2017 the Council implemented a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Point Scheme, following a decision made by Licensing Committee Members to implement such a scheme.

Licensing Committee 23rd September 2019

The basic principle of the scheme was that individuals that were found to have committed relatively minor offences or acts of non-compliance had a number of penalty points logged against their licensing records held by the authority.

If an individual accumulated a given number of penalty points, within a defined period, this triggered an automatic referral of the licence holder to a meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee, whereby Members would consider whether the licence holder remained a fit and proper person to hold the relevant licence.

The scheme enabled officers to deal quickly and efficiently with minor compliance issues and helped to identify those that were regularly not acting in compliance with their licensing requirements, so that more serious action could be considered against these individuals in a targeted and proportionate way.

The Senior Practitioner (Licensing), WRS, continued and informed the Committee that on 12th November 2018, Licensing Committee Members received a report which provided an update on the operation of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Point Scheme. Following consideration of the report, Licensing Committee Members requested that a further report be provided with a view to amending the penalty points scheme to include reference to drivers leaving engines running unnecessarily whilst their vehicle was stationery on a public road.

A further report was presented at the Licensing Committee meeting held on 18th March 2019. Following consideration of the report, Members requested that officers carried out a consultation on the draft revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Point Scheme; with licence holders, other relevant organisations and more widely, as detailed at paragraph 3.14 in the report. In addition the consultation was available to view and respond to via an online version hosted on the Council's website and publicity was provided via the local press and social media channels.

Appendix 1 to the report detailed the consultation survey which commenced in May 2019 and concluded on 26th July 2019. The consultation survey included a copy of the draft revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Point Scheme.

The Senior Practitioner (Licensing), WRS, drew Members' attention to the six responses received to the consultation, as detailed at paragraphs 3.17 to 3.22 and also detailed at Appendices 2 and 3 to the report.

Following on from the consultation, Appendix 4 to the report detailed the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Point Scheme.

In response to questions from Members, the Senior Practitioner (Licensing), WRS, commented that the response to the consultation

Licensing Committee 23rd September 2019

from Dodford with Grafton Parish Council provided no explanation, rationale or evidence as to why they wanted their suggestions included.

In response to further questions from Members with regard to the suggestion from one of the WRS, Licensing Officers in respect of 'using a vehicle with defective tyres'.

The Senior Practitioner (Licensing), WRS, stated that licensed drivers were responsible for checking their tyres on a regular basis. However, licensing officers would also normally rely on the test centre to pick up defective tyres. WRS officers also carried out spot checks on licensed vehicles and used a tyre tread depth gauge. The 6 penalty points suggested by officers would be consistent with Redditch Borough Council's, Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Point Scheme. However, it was the decision of Licensing Committee Members to determine the number of penalty points to be issued for each defective tyre.

In response to the Chairman, the Senior Practitioner (Licensing), WRS, stated that should Members decide to amend the points applicable to 'Using a vehicle with defective tyres' or points applicable on any other items listed under the 'Schedule – Tariff of Points issued for Offences / Breaches'; the scheme would not be subject to a further consultation.

Following further discussion, whereby Members agreed to amend the draft Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Point Scheme as follows:

- 26 Obstructing an authorised officer or constable 4 points applicable.
- 27 Failing to comply with a requirement properly made by an authorised officer or constable – 4 points applicable.
- 34 Using a vehicle with defective tyres 4 points (per tyre) applicable.

The Chairman thanked the Senior Practitioner (Licensing), WRS, for presenting his report.

<u>RESOLVED</u> that subject to the amendments as detailed in the preamble above, the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Point Scheme, be approved.

13/19 THE AIR QUALITY (TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES DATABASE) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 2019

The Committee were asked to note a report that provided information on the implications of the following regulation, The Air Quality (Taxis and

Licensing Committee 23rd September 2019

Private Hire Vehicles Database) (England and Wales) Regulations 2019 which came into effect on 1st May 2019.

The Senior Practitioner (Licensing), Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS), presented the report and explained that in 2017, the government published the UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations followed by a supplement in 2018 (together "the plan").

The plan identified 61 local authorities in England showing exceedances which had been required to carry out feasibility studies and if necessary, develop bespoke plans to bring roadside concentrations of nitrogen dioxide within legal limits in the shortest possible time. The Welsh Government was taking the same approach.

Clean Air Zones ("CAZs") would have a key role to play in delivery of a number of these local plans. The Clean Air Zone Framework sets out the minimum requirements for a CAZ and the expected approach to be taken by local authorities when implementing and operating these zones.

CAZs were not required to include a charging element. However, where there were no other viable options to reduce air pollution to legally permissible levels in the shortest possible time, some local authorities may decide to introduce zones; where vehicle owners were required to pay a charge to enter, or move within, a zone if they were driving a vehicle that did not meet the particular minimum emission standard for their vehicle type in that zone.

The Senior Practitioner (Licensing), WRS, drew Members' attention to paragraph 3.7 in the report, which detailed the Clean Air Zone Framework, four classes of charging CAZ and paragraph 3.8 in the report, which detailed the minimum standards each vehicle type was expected to reach.

Ultra-low emission vehicles with significant zero emission range would never be charged for entering or moving through a CAZ.

Members were further informed that, Leeds and Birmingham would be introducing charging CAZs in 2020 (class B add D respectively). A number of other authorities had also consulted on the introduction of a charging CAZ.

To implement these schemes, local authorities may need to differentiate between taxis/PHVs and private vehicles. This was because in some cases local authorities would implement CAZs that applied charges to taxis and PHVs and not to private vehicles, or they may wish to set a different level of charge for these vehicles.

Licensing authorities only held information on taxis and PHVs licensed within their own area so were not able to clearly identify and charge a

Licensing Committee 23rd September 2019

taxi/PHV entering or moving around their charging CAZ which had been licensed by another authority (also known as 'out of area vehicles').

If local authorities could not identify all 'out of area vehicles', than this would undermine their ability to effectively operate CAZs where charging of these vehicles had been determined to be necessary.

The Air Quality (Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles Database) (England and Wales) Regulations 2019, therefore required all licensing authorities in England and Wales to submit certain information about their licensed taxis/PHVs to a national database to be overseen by the Department for Food, Environment and Rural Affairs (DEFRA).

Licensing authorities were responsible for ensuring that the data which they provided was accurate, legitimate and up to date.

It was also for licensing authorities to ensure that they complied with any data protection legislation when implementing their obligations under the Regulations. The Council had to sign a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with DEFRA with regard to the data that the Council had to provide under the Regulations.

It was anticipated that the Council would be required to begin supplying the required data towards the end of October 2019. In preparation for this all vehicle proprietors would be notified in writing of the obligation placed on the Council to provide the relevant data to DEFRA and the Council's vehicle licence application forms would also be updated to make reference to the Regulations.

WRS officers would try and extract the required information on a weekly basis to send to DEFRA, they were just waiting for the go ahead from DEFRA.

In response to questions from Members, the Senior Practitioner (Licensing), WRS, stated that the costs of complying with the requirements, would be met from existing budgets. The Council currently had 108 hackney carriages and 40 private hire vehicles.

The Senior Practitioner (Licensing), WRS, briefly explained the European emission standards, Euro 4 for petrol driven vehicles and Euro 6 for diesel driven vehicles.

<u>RESOLVED</u> that the report on The Air Quality (Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles Database) (England and Wales) Regulations 2019, be noted.

14/19 LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2019/2020

The Committee considered the Work Programme for 2019/2020.

The Chairman expressed her disappointment that a timescale for a review of the Council's policy on the Guidance Relating to the Relevance

Licensing Committee 23rd September 2019

of Convictions and Cautions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers had still to be determined.

The Senior Licensing Practitioner, WRS, had informed Members at the Licensing Committee held on 15th July 2019, that In February 2019, the Department for Transport had launched a 10 week consultation on the draft statutory guidance to taxi and private hire licensing authorities on how their licensing powers could be exercised in order to safeguard children and vulnerable adults. The consultation period ended on 22nd April 2019.

The Senior Licensing Practitioner, WRS, further informed Members that the final version of this statutory guidance had not yet been published and that officers would need to have regard to this guidance when reviewing and revising the Council's policies on the licensing of taxi and private hire vehicles.

Therefore, a review of the Council's policy on the Guidance Relating to the Relevance of Convictions and Cautions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers would be carried out as soon as the Department for Transport, statutory guidance was published. Officers were hoping that the guidance would be issued during the next few months.

<u>RESOLVED</u> that the Licensing Committee Work Programme for 2019/2020, be noted.

The meeting closed at 6.31 p.m.

<u>Chairman</u>

LICENSING COMMITTEE

18th November 2019

REVIEW OF STREET COLLECTION POLICY

Relevant Portfolio Holder	Councillor A. Kent
Portfolio Holder Consulted	No
Relevant Head of Service	Simon Wilkes – Head of
	Worcestershire Regulatory Services
Wards Affected	All Wards
Ward Councillor Consulted	N/A
Non-Key Decision	

1. <u>SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS</u>

The Council has adopted a policy in relation to the control of street collections. This policy was adopted around five years ago and Members are now asked to review the current policy and give consideration to carrying out a consultation exercise to obtain views on the current policy and any amendments that could be made to it.

2. <u>RECOMMENDATIONS</u>

Members are asked to RESOLVE whether to instruct officers to conduct a consultation exercise in relation to an updated version of the Council's Street Collection Policy, which is shown at Appendix 3.

3. KEY ISSUES

Financial Implications

- 3.1 There are no fees payable in respect of applications for street collection permits.
- 3.2 The costs of the consultation exercise will be met from existing budgets held by Worcestershire Regulatory Services.

Legal Implications

3.3 Section 5 of the Police, Factories, etc (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916 enables authorities to make regulations to control street collections in their area.

LICENSING COMMITTEE

18th November 2019

Service / Operational Implications

- 3.4 The Council regulates charitable collections taking place in any street or public place under the Police, Factories, etc (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916. The Council can regulate collections where there is a collection of money or the selling of articles for the benefit of charitable purposes (cash collections).
- 3.5 Street collections are an important method of fund raising for charitable causes; however they can cause annoyance to the public if not suitably controlled and managed. This can lead to the public avoiding certain areas where they believe they will be asked to donate money every time they visit.
- 3.6 It is also important that those that are authorised to carry out street collections represent genuine charitable causes and are not seeking to defraud the public by pretending to collect for a charitable cause and actually using the money collected for other purposes.
- 3.7 In order to ensure that street collections are suitably controlled and managed, and that applicants for permits represent genuine charitable causes, the Council has adopted a policy for dealing with street collection permit applications. The current policy can be seen at **Appendix 1**.
- 3.8 The current policy was approved at the Licensing Committee on 22nd September 2014 and took effect from the 1st January 2015. It has therefore been five years since the policy was last subject to review.
- 3.9 It is important to recognise that the legislation does not cover face to face fundraisers who ask people in the street or other public place to sign up to donating to charitable causes by direct debit. The Council therefore cannot regulate this type of collection.
- 3.10 The Council has however entered into a site management agreement with the Institute of Fundraising (previously the Public Fundraising Regulatory Association or PFRA) to control this type of collection. A copy of the current site management agreement can be seen at **Appendix 2**.
- 3.1 Officers have identified at least two parts of the current policy document that need to be updated. Firstly, the policy needs to be updated to reflect the fact that the Council has now entered into a site management agreement with the Institute of Fundraising to control direct debit street collections.

LICENSING COMMITTEE

18th November 2019

Agenda Item 4

- 3.12 Secondly, the address for submission of applications needs to be updated as the Council no longer occupies the Council House in Burcot Lane . An updated version of the policy, can be seen at **Appendix 3**.
- 3.13 Given the length of time since the policy was last reviewed, Members are asked to review the policy and consider whether they wish to instruct officers to conduct a consultation exercise inviting comments on the updated policy and any suggestions of amendments that those responding to the consultation think should be made to it.
- 3.14 If a consultation exercise is undertaken, officers will look to contact the Charities Commission, the Institute of Fundraising, Parish Councils and any person who has applied for a street collection permit in the past 12 months and comments will be invited. The consultation exercise will also be made available via the Council's website and publicised via the local press and social media channels.
- 3.15 Any responses received during the consultation will be brought back to the Licensing Committee for consideration before a decision is taken about whether to make any amendments to the current policy.

4. RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 If street collections are not appropriately controlled this could cause annoyance to the public and increase the risk that the public could be defrauded by people who are not collecting for genuine charitable causes.

5. <u>APPENDICES</u>

Appendix 1 – Current Street Collection Policy

Appendix 2 – Current Site Management Agreement

Appendix 3 – Updated Street Collection Policy

AUTHOR OF REPORT

Name:	Dave Etheridge – Senior Practitioner (Licensing) Worcestershire Regulatory Services
E Mail:	dave.etheridge@worcsregservices.gov.uk
Tel:	(01905) 822799

This page is intentionally left blank

STREET COLLECTIONS

Raising money or selling goods for charity in the street or any other public place requires permission from Bromsgrove District Council. These collections (usually referred to as "street collections") most commonly take the form of a collector asking members of the public to make a donation in a collecting box.

The Council limits the number of collections taking place in the town, only in certain circumstances will additional collections be authorised.

From experience, it appears that unauthorised collectors often claim that they have permission from the manager of the store outside which they are collecting to carry out such activity in the shop entrance, although in many cases the collector is standing in the street, not in the shop entrance.

Regardless of the exact location of the collector, it is the Council's view that a "public place" is one to which the public have, or are permitted to have, access at any time (or at least during usual shopping hours), without making payment. This would include a shop forecourt, a supermarket entrance or a privately owned shopping centre. It would not, however, include the area of any shop premises <u>inside</u> the entrance doors.

The sale of goods or articles in the street (usually referred to as Street Trading) is also controlled by the Council, and there are designated sites where street trading may take place.

Direct Debit Collections

Direct Debit Collections are where pledges are collected for direct debit donations. These do not require permission from the Local Authority as there are no legal provisions for this type of collection. It may be possible in the future to enter into an agreement with the Public Fundraising Regulatory Association (PFRA) to regulate this type of collection. In the meantime any complaints or enquires regarding Direct Debit Collections should be referred to the PFRA.

Any one making a complaint regarding Direct Debit Collections should be referred to the PFRA.

STREET COLLECTIONS POLICY AND REGULATIONS

The Street Collections Policy and Regulations are designed to ensure that only legitimate charities or organisations are permitted to collect money from people in the street and to ensure that the proceeds are properly accounted for.

A street includes "any highway and public bridge, road, lane, footway, square, court, alley or passage whether a thoroughfare or not".

It does not matter whether the land is privately owned or owned by the Local Authority if the area is one to which the public have access, without making payment, then it falls under the definition of a street.

Bromsgrove District Council issues a Street Collection Permit for collections of money for charitable purposes and all applications shall be determined in accordance with the policy.

In considering applications received, the Licensing Officer will have regard to the number of collectors, the time of the collection and other events taking place at the same time. Preference will be given to local charities with regards to the application process in the event more than one application is received for the same day. If more applications are received than there are dates available, priority will be given to local charities, or local branches of national charities.

The Authority will only grant one Street Collection Permit in a Ward area on any given date unless circumstances allow for more than one Permit ie one for the morning and one for the afternoon.

Street collection permits will not normally be granted in the Town Centre (St John's Ward) on Mondays and Wednesdays.

A Street Collection Permit will only be granted to those organisations which have submitted their latest financial returns in accordance with the Council's Street Collection Regulations, and such returns are considered to be satisfactory.

Only one street collection per charity shall normally be made in any calendar year unless the Licensing Officer considers that circumstances are such that more than one street collection can be permitted. For example additional collections may be permitted where the proposed

collective date remains available close to the normal application deadline. Each case will be assessed on its merits.

All successful applicants must comply with the Council's Street Collection Regulations.

Regulations

In pursuance of section 5 of the Police, Factories etc. (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916, as amended by section 25 and Schedule 29 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Bromsgrove District Council Licensing Authority hereby makes the following Regulations with respect to where and the conditions under which a person or persons may be permitted in any street or public place within the District of Bromsgrove, to collect money or sell articles for the benefit of charitable or other purposes:

Definitions:

"Local Authority" means Bromsgrove District Council.

"Collection" means collection of money or the sale of articles for the benefit of charitable or other purposes.

"Permit" means Street Collection Permit.

"Collection box" means box, tin or any other receptacle for the collection of money.

"Collectors" means those authorised by the Street Collection Permit to collect money from the public.

"Promoter" means a person authorised by the organisation to allow an application to be submitted.

"Qualified Account" means a current member of one or more of the following bodies: the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Scotland, the Association of Certified Accountants, or the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland.

Application Process

A completed Application Form should be submitted to the Licensing Department, Worcester Regulatory Services, The Council House, Burcot Lane, Bromsgrove, Worcestershire B60 1AA.

A completed application should be received by the Licensing Department at least 2 calendar months prior to the collection date unless there are special reasons for considering an application in a shorter time.

There is no fee payable.

The following documentation must also accompany the Application Form:

- i. A covering letter from the Promoter of the organisation confirming that authority has been given by the charity for the application to be made.
- ii. Form of accounts for the last 12 months (unless a Street Collection has been granted in the previous twelve months to the applicant and a form of account has been subsequently submitted).
- iii. Information regarding the organisation or charity including details of what the money is used for and what percentage of the money goes directly to the charitable organisation. Include leaflets and any promotional information

Once a completed application is received the Licensing Officer will establish whether there are any other events taking place on the same day that would conflict with the application or if any other Street Collection Permits have been granted for the same day

If the Street Collection Permit is granted the following documents will be sent to the applicant:

- A covering letter.
- The Permit specifying the date, time and location of the collection. This <u>must</u> be available to be viewed on the day of the collection.
- A copy of the Regulations which must be complied with.

• A Returns Form which must be sent to the Licensing Department no later that 28 days after the collection date. Failure to provide a Return Form will lead to refusal of any future application.

<u>Refusals.</u>

If an application for a Street Collection Permit cannot be granted by the Licensing Officer for any reason, the applicant may ask for the matter to be considered by the Licensing Sub-Committee.

An application may be refused by the Licensing Sub-Committee for the following reasons:

- Insufficient information provided either within the application form or with any of the accompanying documentation.
- The completed application is received after the 2 month process period.
- The charity has already had one Street Collection Permit during the preceding 12 months.
- A Street Collection Permit has already been grant to another charity for the same time.
- Following a previous grant the Returns Form was not provided or was incomplete.
- For any other justifiable reason.

Only those charities/organisations that have been granted a Street Collection Permit may collect money from people in the street using a collection box.

• The Permit is valid only for the date and time specified on the Permit.

- Collections must not in any way be conducted in a manner that would cause inconvenience to pedestrians or passers by.
- Collectors must not obstruct the highway or in any way cause a hindrance or obstruction.
- The Collectors must remain within the location as defined in the Permit and must remain stationary.
- Each Collector must carry a Collection Box.
- All Collection Boxes must be allocated a unique reference number, be properly accounted for and must be securely closed in such a way to ensure it can not be opened without breaking the seal.
- Collectors must be over the age of 16 unless the Licensing Department has previously given permission.
- All money received must be placed in the collection tin/box by the person making the donation.
- The Collectors must display their identity and charitable organisation at all times during the collection time.
- Collectors must have their Permit with them during the collection and must show it if requested to do so.
- The use of tables and chair is prohibited unless agreed with the Licensing Department prior to the date of collection.
- No animals may be used in any street collection unless previously agreed with the Licensing Department.
- A Return Form must be submitted to the Licensing Department within 28 days of the collection date. If the Return Form is not returned or is returned incomplete then this failure will result in any future application being refused.

<u>Return Form</u>

A completed Return Form must be submitted within 28 days of the collection date. This must include the following information:

- The amount received and expenses and payments incurred.
- The details of the Collectors
- The amount in each collecting box.

The Return Form must be certified by a qualified Accountant.

The penalty for an offence arising from a failure to comply with these Regulations is liable to a fine at level 1 on the standard scale.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4



December 2014 Site Management Agreement

Site Management Agreement

Between PFRA and Bromsgrove District Council

Prepared by: Stephen Service Outreach Officer +44 (0)20 7401 8452 Stephen@pfra.org.uk www.pfra.org.uk

Page 19

1 Purpose

The purpose and spirit of this voluntary Site Management Agreement (SMA) is to facilitate responsible face-to-face fundraising in Bromsgrove District Council and provide a balance between the duty of charities and not-for-profit organisations to fundraise and the rights of the public to go about their business without the impression of undue inconvenience. For the avoidance of doubt, this document does not constitute a legal contract.

Once this agreement is in place it should minimise the administration for the council, providing just one channel for information and support regarding face-to-face fundraisers, as nominated 'gatekeepers' only have to deal with one organisation, the PFRA, instead of dealing with each individual charity and fundraising organisation separately.

2 Statement of Conformity

All fundraisers will abide at all times by the relevant elements of the Institute of Fundraising's <u>Code of Fundraising Practice</u>, and the PFRA's <u>Rule Book</u>, or face the appropriate penalties.

If local authority officers note fundraisers contravening the PFRA's Rule Book or any local clause within the SMA, they will inform the PFRA's Head of Standards by contacting them on 020 7401 8452, providing details of the incident.

3 Access Details

3.1 Sites, team sizes, positioning, and frequency

Sites may be used as follows, as shown in the map at Appendix 1:

Bromsgrove town centre

Pedestrianised area of High Street between New Road and Stratford Road.

Capacity: maximum of 5 fundraisers

Positioning: fundraisers to be spread out along the length of the site.

Frequency: Mondays and Wednesdays only*.

*PFRA members reserve the right to review frequency in 6 months if this is considered to have an unduly adverse effect on fundraising in the area.

Where fundraisers are found to be working outside of the agreed locations, they must comply with requests made by Local Authority Officials and reposition themselves correctly or as directed on-site.

Only one charity will be present on any one site on any one day.

Fundraising will only be permitted between the hours of 9am and 7pm, unless otherwise specified.

Any exclusion dates (e.g specific event days) are to be announce Age and the APRA to be booked into the PFRA's diary management system, giving a minimum of 4 weeks' notice to the PFRA from date of diary delivery.

3.2 Other Conditions

Fundraisers should be positioned in such a way as to offer an adequate 'comfort zone' to those users of the public highway who do not wish to engage. In furtherance of this, it is desirable that a minimum footway channel of 1 metre be maintained between fundraisers and the kerb / shop frontage where it is reasonable to do so.

Fundraisers should maintain a reasonable distance (of approximately 3 metres) apart from one another and any other legitimate street activities (e.g. street traders, Big Issue sellers, buskers, newspaper stands, promotional activities and market researching).

4 Information Required

4.1 Nominated Gatekeeper

The nominated gatekeeper for Bromsgrove District Council is Dave Etheridge, Senior Licensing Practitioner and his contact details are <u>wrsenquiries@worcsregservices.gov.uk</u> 01905 822799. In his absence all enquiries should be made to Niall McMenamin, Senior Licensing Practitioner <u>wrsenquiries@worcsregservices.gov.uk</u> 01905 822799

4.2 Required Information

The PFRA will maintain and manage the diary schedule. Diary/Schedule information will include: contact details for the agency (if applicable); and charity being fundraised for.

Copies of the diary are to be made available to:

Dave Etheridge, Senior Licensing Practitioner

Niall McMenamin, Senior Licensing Practitioner

These contact details shall be updated as and when necessary.

4.3 Transition and continuity

Should the nominated gatekeeper move on or responsibilities otherwise change, the gatekeeper will inform his/her successor of the detail of this agreement, the relationship with the PFRA, arrangements for the regulation of face-to-face fundraising, and provide the PFRA with contact details for the successor.

5 Complaint Management

PFRA will respond to and seek to resolve all complaints received, and issue penalties according to its rules. The Council will provide real time notification of any complaints it wishes to be resolved immediately and provide sufficient detail for any retrospective complaints to be investigated. Where the collection agencies or the charities themselves receive complaints it is expected that they will provide information to the PFRA including

information about the identity of any individual collector who is subjected book in the 4 of the action taken (if any).

Members of the public are encouraged to direct complaints about charity fundraising to the Fundraising Standards Board (<u>FRSB</u>).

6 Working Together

Bromsgrove District Council agrees to work with the PFRA to raise awareness regarding this site management scheme, including explaining what face-to-face fundraising is, the PFRA, the Code of Fundraising Practice, and facts about Direct Debit.

The PFRA monitors member organisations, through a programme of random spotchecks, responding to complaints, and other mechanisms, to ensure fundraisers' adherence to the Code of Fundraising Practice, PFRA Rules, and Site Management Agreements. The PFRA can give appropriate penalties or sanctions to those not abiding by the rules.

This SMA will be reviewed 6 months after it is signed, and then once every 12 months, if necessary, or earlier if there is just cause to do so. All amendments will be agreed in writing before becoming effective. Either party can withdraw from this agreement, giving 3 months' notice in writing.

Depending on when this agreement is signed, in relation to the PFRA's bidding/allocation cycle, there will be a lead-time of up to 8 weeks before the agreement can be fully implemented.

Signed For and On Behalf Of PFRA:

Print name:

Job title:

Date:

P.H.e.Dr		
PETER	HILLS - JONES	

CEO

16.01.15

197

Signed For and On Behalf Of Bromsgrove District Council:

Print name:

Job title:

Date:

Dave Etheridge

Senior Licensing Practitioner

14th January 2015

Plan showing the area (s) where fundraising is to be permitted:

Bromsgrove town centre



Appendix 2 - Direct Debit Guarantee

Know your rights - The Direct Debit Guarantee

Direct Debit is one of the safest ways of making charitable donations. Organisations using the Direct Debit Scheme go through a careful vetting process before they're authorised, and are closely monitored by the banking industry. The efficiency and security of the Scheme is monitored and protected by your own bank or building society.

The Direct Debit Scheme applies to all Direct Debits. It protects you in the rare event that anything goes wrong.

The Direct Debit Guarantee

- The Guarantee is offered by all banks and building societies that accept instructions to pay Direct Debits.
- If there are any changes to the amount, date or frequency of your Direct Debit the
 organisation will notify you (normally 10 working days) in advance of your account
 being debited or as otherwise agreed. If you request the organisation to collect a
 payment, confirmation of the amount and date will be given to you at the time of
 the request.
- If an error is made in the payment of your Direct Debit, by the organisation or your bank or building society, you are entitled to a full and immediate refund of the amount paid from your bank or building society.
 - If you receive a refund you are not entitled to, you must pay it back when the organisation asks you to.
- You can cancel a Direct Debit at any time by simply contacting your bank or building society. Written confirmation may be required. Please also notify the organisation.

STREET COLLECTIONS

Raising money or selling goods for charity in the street or any other public place requires permission from Bromsgrove District Council. These collections (usually referred to as "street collections") most commonly take the form of a collector asking members of the public to make a donation in a collecting box.

The Council limits the number of collections taking place in the town, only in certain circumstances will additional collections be authorised.

From experience, it appears that unauthorised collectors often claim that they have permission from the manager of the store outside which they are collecting to carry out such activity in the shop entrance, although in many cases the collector is standing in the street, not in the shop entrance.

Regardless of the exact location of the collector, it is the Council's view that a "public place" is one to which the public have, or are permitted to have, access at any time (or at least during usual shopping hours), without making payment. This would include a shop forecourt, a supermarket entrance or a privately owned shopping centre. It would not, however, include the area of any shop premises <u>inside</u> the entrance doors.

The sale of goods or articles in the street (usually referred to as Street Trading) is also controlled by the Council, and there are designated sites where street trading may take place.

Direct Debit Collections

Direct Debit Collections are where pledges are collected for direct debit donations. These do not require permission from the Local Authority as there are no legal provisions for this type of collection.

The Council has however entered into a "site management agreement" with the Institute of Fundraising (previously known as the Public Fundraising Regulatory Association) to help control this type of activity in the town centre.

The current site management agreement can be found on the Institute of Fundraising's website here:

https://www.institute-of-fundraising.org.uk/guidance/fundraisingcompliance/site-management-agreements/

STREET COLLECTIONS POLICY AND REGULATIONS

The Street Collections Policy and Regulations are designed to ensure that only legitimate charities or organisations are permitted to collect money from people in the street and to ensure that the proceeds are properly accounted for.

A street includes "any highway and public bridge, road, lane, footway, square, court, alley or passage whether a thoroughfare or not".

It does not matter whether the land is privately owned or owned by the Local Authority if the area is one to which the public have access, without making payment, then it falls under the definition of a street.

Bromsgrove District Council issues a Street Collection Permit for collections of money for charitable purposes and all applications shall be determined in accordance with the policy.

In considering applications received, the Licensing Officer will have regard to the number of collectors, the time of the collection and other events taking place at the same time. Preference will be given to local charities with regards to the application process in the event more than one application is received for the same day. If more applications are received than there are dates available, priority will be given to local charities, or local branches of national charities.

The Authority will only grant one Street Collection Permit in a Ward area on any given date unless circumstances allow for more than one Permit ie one for the morning and one for the afternoon.

Street collection permits will not normally be granted in the Town Centre (St John's Ward) on Mondays and Wednesdays.

A Street Collection Permit will only be granted to those organisations which have submitted their latest financial returns in accordance with the Council's Street Collection Regulations, and such returns are considered to be satisfactory.

Only one street collection per charity shall normally be made in any calendar year unless the Licensing Officer considers that circumstances are such that more than one street collection can be permitted. For example additional collections may be permitted where the proposed

collective date remains available close to the normal application deadline. Each case will be assessed on its merits.

All successful applicants must comply with the Council's Street Collection Regulations.

Regulations

In pursuance of section 5 of the Police, Factories etc. (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916, as amended by section 25 and Schedule 29 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Bromsgrove District Council Licensing Authority hereby makes the following Regulations with respect to where and the conditions under which a person or persons may be permitted in any street or public place within the District of Bromsgrove, to collect money or sell articles for the benefit of charitable or other purposes:

Definitions:

"Local Authority" means Bromsgrove District Council.

"Collection" means collection of money or the sale of articles for the benefit of charitable or other purposes.

"Permit" means Street Collection Permit.

"Collection box" means box, tin or any other receptacle for the collection of money.

"Collectors" means those authorised by the Street Collection Permit to collect money from the public.

"Promoter" means a person authorised by the organisation to allow an application to be submitted.

"Qualified Account" means a current member of one or more of the following bodies: the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Scotland, the Association of Certified Accountants, or the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland.

Application Process

A completed Application Form should be submitted to:

Bromsgrove District Council (Licensing) Parkside Market Street Bromsgrove Worcestershire B61 8DA

Applications can also be emailed to <u>enquiries@worcsregservices.gov.uk</u>

A completed application should be received by the Licensing Department at least 2 calendar months prior to the collection date unless there are special reasons for considering an application in a shorter time.

There is no fee payable.

The following documentation must also accompany the Application Form:

- i. A covering letter from the Promoter of the organisation confirming that authority has been given by the charity for the application to be made.
- ii. Form of accounts for the last 12 months (unless a Street Collection has been granted in the previous twelve months to the applicant and a form of account has been subsequently submitted).
- iii. Information regarding the organisation or charity including details of what the money is used for and what percentage of the money goes directly to the charitable organisation. Include leaflets and any promotional information

Once a completed application is received the Licensing Officer will establish whether there are any other events taking place on the same day that would conflict with the application or if any other Street Collection Permits have been granted for the same day

If the Street Collection Permit is granted the following documents will be sent to the applicant:

- A covering letter.
- The Permit specifying the date, time and location of the collection. This <u>must</u> be available to be viewed on the day of the collection.
- A copy of the Regulations which must be complied with.
- A Returns Form which must be sent to the Licensing Department no later that 28 days after the collection date. Failure to provide a Return Form will lead to refusal of any future application.

<u>Refusals.</u>

If an application for a Street Collection Permit cannot be granted by the Licensing Officer for any reason, the applicant may ask for the matter to be considered by the Licensing Sub-Committee.

An application may be refused by the Licensing Sub-Committee for the following reasons:

- Insufficient information provided either within the application form or with any of the accompanying documentation.
- The completed application is received after the 2 month process period.
- The charity has already had one Street Collection Permit during the preceding 12 months.
- A Street Collection Permit has already been grant to another charity for the same time.
- Following a previous grant the Returns Form was not provided or was incomplete.
- For any other justifiable reason.

Only those charities/organisations that have been granted a Street Collection Permit may collect money from people in the street using a collection box.

- The Permit is valid only for the date and time specified on the Permit.
- Collections must not in any way be conducted in a manner that would cause inconvenience to pedestrians or passers by.
- Collectors must not obstruct the highway or in any way cause a hindrance or obstruction.
- The Collectors must remain within the location as defined in the Permit and must remain stationary.
- Each Collector must carry a Collection Box.
- All Collection Boxes must be allocated a unique reference number, be properly accounted for and must be securely closed in such a way to ensure it can not be opened without breaking the seal.
- Collectors must be over the age of 16 unless the Licensing Department has previously given permission.
- All money received must be placed in the collection tin/box by the person making the donation.
- The Collectors must display their identity and charitable organisation at all times during the collection time.
- Collectors must have their Permit with them during the collection and must show it if requested to do so.
- The use of tables and chair is prohibited unless agreed with the Licensing Department prior to the date of collection.
- No animals may be used in any street collection unless previously agreed with the Licensing Department.
- A Return Form must be submitted to the Licensing Department within 28 days of the collection date. If the Return Form is not returned or is returned incomplete then this failure will result in any future application being refused.

Return Form

A completed Return Form must be submitted within 28 days of the collection date. This must include the following information:

- The amount received and expenses and payments incurred.
- The details of the Collectors
- The amount in each collecting box.

The Return Form must be certified by a qualified Accountant.

The penalty for an offence arising from a failure to comply with these Regulations is liable to a fine at level 1 on the standard scale.
LICENSING COMMITTEE

18th November 2019

ANIMAL ACTIVITY LICENSING INFORMATION REPORT

Relevant Portfolio Holder	Councillor A. Kent
Portfolio Holder Consulted	No
Relevant Head of Service	Simon Wilkes – Head of Worcestershire Regulatory Services
Wards Affected	All Wards
Ward Councillor Consulted	N/A
Non-Key Decision	

1. <u>SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS</u>

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 took effect on 1st October 2018. These regulations fundamentally reformed licensing arrangements for a variety of animal-related establishments.

This report as been produced to provide an update to Members on the implementation of the regulations.

2. <u>RECOMMENDATIONS</u>

Members are asked to note the content of the report.

3. KEY ISSUES

Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications arising from the report.

Legal Implications

3.2 The report does not give rise to any legal implications.

Service / Operational Implications

3.3 The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 took effect on 1st October 2018.

LICENSING COMMITTEE

18th November 2019

Agenda Item 5

- 3.4 Under the regulations the previous licensing regimes in place for animal boarding establishments, pet shops, riding establishments and dog breeders were repealed and replaced by a new single licensing scheme that regulates those carrying on the following "licensable activities" in the course of business:
 - Providing or arranging boarding for cats
 - Providing or arranging boarding in kennels for dogs
 - Providing or arranging home boarding for dogs
 - Providing or arranging day care for dogs
 - Breeding dogs
 - Selling animals as pets
 - Hiring out horses
 - Keeping or training animals for exhibition
- 3.5 The regulations are supported by a comprehensive and detailed suite of guidance documents issued by the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). These include procedural guidance notes and then guidance notes on the licence conditions (standards) for each of the different licensable activities listed above.
- 3.6 The guidance documents were first published by DEFRA on 2nd October 2018 and revised versions were then issued on 4th December 2019. The late publication and almost immediate revision to the guidance documents added to the challenge of implementing the new licensing arrangements contained in the regulations.
- 3.7 The implementation was also particularly challenging due to the fact that a large number of licences in force under the previous licensing regimes were due to expire on 31st December 2018. These included all licences issued under the Pet Animals Act 1951 and the Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963.
- 3.8 As a result of the extremely tight timescales imposed on the Council, many applications for licences under the new regulations were not able to be granted by 1st January 2019. This is because each application made under the regulations requires an inspection to be undertaken by a suitably qualified inspector before the application can be determined.
- 3.9 The inspections require the inspector to assess whether the business was meeting the minimum and higher standards set out in the DEFRA guidance documents which run to between 26 and 91 pages, depending on the licensable activity being undertaken.

LICENSING COMMITTEE

18th November 2019

Agenda Item 5

- 3.10 Given the difficulties in processing a large volume of applications in a short time period, a pragmatic approach was adopted and anyone who had applied for a new licence and was authorised by a licence issued under one of the previous licensing regimes in place, was allowed to continue trading until their new application was determined.
- 3.11 The backlog of applications has now been dealt with and in total there are now 194 licences in force across Worcestershire under the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018. In the Bromsgrove District there are 38 licences that are in force at the time of preparing this report.
- 3.12 Licences issued under the regulations are issued for one, two or three years depending on what "star rating" the applicant achieves. The star ratings are calculated in accordance with DEFRA's procedural guidance notes for local authorities, a copy of which is shown at **Appendix 1**.
- 3.13 The star rating calculation takes account of the licence holder's compliance with the minimum and higher standards and an assessment of whether the business is low risk or higher risk.
- 3.14 **Appendix 2** contains two tables showing the licensable activities authorised by the licences issued in the Bromsgrove District, along with how many licence holders have been awarded the different star ratings available.
- 3.15 Unannounced visits have now begun taking place to those premises that are authorised to be used for licensable activities as required under DEFRA's guidance.
- 3.16 A number of investigations are also ongoing in relation to businesses suspected of providing licensable activities and which are not currently licensed under the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018.

4. RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 None

5. <u>APPENDICES</u>

Appendix 1 – Procedural guidance for local authorities Appendix 2 – Statistical information

LICENSING COMMITTEE

18th November 2019

AUTHOR OF REPORT

Name:	Dave Etheridge – Senior Practitioner (Licensing) Worcestershire Regulatory Services
E Mail:	dave.etheridge@worcsregservices.gov.uk
Tel:	(01905) 822799



The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 Procedural guidance notes for local authorities October 2018

Contents

Introduction and intended audience
Definitions used in this Guidance4
Who and what to license4
How long licences last5
Before you grant a new animal activity licence5
Suitably qualified inspectors6
Deciding on a licence application6
Granting a licence
Renewing a licence7
Suspension, variation or revocation of a licence9
Provision of information to the Secretaryof State
Inspections during the term of a licence13
Death of a licence holder
Powers of entry14
Offences
Post-conviction powers
Transitional provisions15
Fee setting15
Activities covered by the licensing fees15
Determining the length of a licence and the star rating of a business:
Assessing risk & standards16
Animals activity star rating system16
Does the business meet the minimum standards?17
Minor failings17
Does the business meet the higher standards?

Is the business low or high risk?	18
Certification by a UKAS-accredited body	18
Frequently asked questions	22
The process of providing a risk rating	22
The appeals process	22
Requests for re-inspections for re-rating purposes	23

Introduction and intended audience

- 1. This guidance is for local authorities who need to license activities involving animals and the relevant establishments. It can also be used by those who currently have a licence or wish to apply for one.
- Local authorities, existing licence holders and anyone planning to apply for a licence should also read The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018⁽¹⁾ (the "Regulations") to understand their obligations and duties under the new Regulations and the licences granted under these Regulations.

Definitions used in this Guidance

- 3. Terms used in this guidance have the same meaning as in the Regulations, unless stated otherwise.
- 4. For ease of reference some of the key definitions used in this guidance are set out below:

A "licensable activity" means one of five activities involving animals: selling animals as pets, providing for or arranging for the provision of boarding for cats or dogs (includes boarding in kennels or catteries, home boarding for dogs and day care for dogs), hiring out horses, dog breeding and keeping or training animals for exhibition.

An "operator" means an individual who-

- (a) carries on, attempts to carry on or knowingly allows to be carried on a licensable activity, or
- (b) where a licence has been granted or renewed, is the licence holder;

The "local authority" means—

- (a) a district council,
- (b) a London borough council,
- (c) the Common Council of the City of London (in their capacity as a local authority),
- (d) the Council of the Isles of Scilly, or
- (e) a combined authority in England established under section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.

A "listed veterinarian" means a veterinarian who for the time being is listed as being authorised to carry out an inspection on the list of veterinarians drawn up by the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons.

Who and what to license

- 5. The Regulations apply to an operator of a licensable activity in England.
- 6. Local authorities must make sure that the person who carries on, attempts to carry on or knowingly allows a licensable activity to be carried on, the "operator", either does not

⁽¹⁾ The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018

need a licence due to not meeting the requirements in the Regulations, holds a licence in accordance with the Regulations or that appropriate enforcement action is taken on unlicensed activity.

- 7. The licence holder must be a named person who is not disqualified from holding a licence in accordance with the requirements of regulation 11 (Persons who may not apply for a licence).
- 8. Responsibility for ensuring that the correct licence has been obtained and is kept up to date with the relevant local authority or authorities falls to the licence holder or prospective licence holder.
- 9. Where businesses operate a franchise model each establishment should have its own licence and star rating.

How long licences last

- 10. For the activity of "Keeping or Training Animals for Exhibition", all licences are for three years on the basis that these activities have hitherto been subject to a simple registration system. There is no risk assessment applied to such activities.
- 11. For all other activities, if a **new applicant** (someone who has no compliance history with a local authority or UKAS) is successful, they will automatically be considered as high risk due to a lack of history.
- 12. Such operators will have the length of their licence determined by their risk rating (automatically high risk) and whether the operator is already meeting the specified higher standards of animal welfare rather than the minimum required by the licence conditions.
- 13. If an **existing operator** is applying for the renewal of a licence, then the length of time the licence is granted for will be determined by their risk rating and the licence length can be up to three years. Those with longer licences will receive fewer inspections because inspections tend to be on renewal, and therefore they will pay less for inspection fees as a result.
- 14. The risk model guidance set out in paragraph 61 onwards must be used in determining the length of licence to award.

Before you grant a new animal activity licence

- 15. Once a local authority receives an application for the grant or renewal of a licence it must do all of the following before granting or renewing a licence:
 - (a) You must consider whether the conduct displayed by the applicant indicates that they are a fit and proper person to carry out the licensable activity and meet their licence conditions.
 - (b) Inspect the site of the licensable activity and assess if it's likely to meet the licence conditions. You'll need to have a suitably qualified inspector present (as well as a veterinarian for the initial inspection of a dog breeding establishment, or a listed veterinarian for inspections of horse riding establishments). The inspector must prepare a report, in accordance with the requirements of regulation 10, to be submitted to the local authority following their inspection.

- (c) The inspector's report will contain information about the operator, any relevant premises, any relevant records, the condition of any animals and any other relevant matter and state whether or not the inspector considers that the licence conditions will be met.
- (d) Ensure that the appropriate fees have been paid, these can include fees for the consideration of the application, the reasonable anticipated costs of consideration of a licence holder's compliance with these Regulations, the reasonable anticipated costs of enforcement in relation to any licensable activity of an unlicensed operator and any fees in relation to the provision of information to the secretary of state.

Suitably qualified inspectors

- 16. All inspectors must be suitably qualified. This is defined as:
 - (a) Any person holding a Level 3 certificate or equivalent granted by a body, recognised and regulated by the Office of Qualifications and Examinations Regulation which oversees the training and assessment of persons in inspecting and licensing animal activities businesses, confirming the passing of an independent examination. A person is only considered to be qualified to inspect a particular type of activity if their certificate applies to that activity. Or;
 - (b) Any person holding a formal veterinary qualification, as recognised by the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons ("RCVS"), together with a relevant RCVS continuing professional development record;
 - (c) Until October 2021, any person that can show evidence of at least one year of experience in licensing and inspecting animal activities businesses.

Deciding on a licence application

- 17. You must consider the inspectors' report and any comments or conduct made by the applicant when deciding whether or not to approve a new licence application.
- 18. You must refuse to grant a licence if you:
 - (a) Think the applicant is not capable of meeting their licence conditions.
 - (b) Think that granting a licence might negatively affect the welfare, health or safety of the animals involved in the activity.
 - (c) You can refuse to grant a licence if the accommodation, staffing or management are inadequate for the animals' well-being or for the activity or establishment to be run properly. The relevant guidance documents for the activity will explain in detail the requirements and conditions that must be met so you should have regard to these documents.
 - (d) You can also refuse to grant a licence if the applicant has been disqualified from holding a licence as per Schedule 8 of the Regulations.

Granting a licence

19. The application form must be completed by the applicant for each of the licensable activities being applied for and sent to the relevant local authority along with payment

for the application fee. The relevant local authority will be the one in which the premises at which the majority of the licensable activities take place.

20. You should aim to issue a decision on an application within 10 weeks of receiving it. It is possible that the process may take longer, for example if further information is required from the applicant or if it proves difficult to make the arrangements for the inspection.

Renewing a licence

- 21. Local authorities should advise each licence holder in writing 3 months before their licence expires that they will need to renew it.
- 22. The licence holder must apply for a renewed licence at least 10 weeks before their current licence expires if they wish to continue to operate the licensable activity without a break.
- 23. Local authorities must carry out an inspection of the premises before renewing the licence. The form of the inspection will depend on the licensable activity in question.
- 24. Consider the inspection report (and any response from the applicant) when deciding whether to renew the licence or not.

Figure 1 Application flowchart



Suspension, variation or revocation of a licence

25. A local authority may at any time vary a licence:

- (a) On the application in writing of the licence holder, or
- (b) On your own initiative, with the consent in writing of the licence holder.
- (c) In addition to the above a local authority may suspend, vary or revoke a licence without the consent of the licence holder if:
 - i. The licence conditions are not being complied with,
 - ii. There has been a breach of the Regulations,
 - iii. Information supplied by the licence holder is false or misleading, or
 - iv. It is necessary to protect the welfare of an animal.
- 26. Such a suspension, variation or revocation of a licence will normally take effect 7 working days after the decision has been issued to the licence holder unless the reason is to protect the welfare of an animal in which case you may stipulate that the decision has immediate effect.
- 27. The decision to vary or suspend the licence must be notified to the licence holder in writing, explain the reasoning for the decision, and provide information regarding when the suspension, variation or revocation comes into effect and the rights of the licence holder, as well as any specific changes that you deem necessary in order to remedy the situation.
- 28. The decision to vary or suspend a licence should be dependent on the severity of the situation, if an operator fails to meet administrative conditions or provide information when requested then this could potentially lead to the suspension of a licence if it happens repeatedly. Revocation of a licence should occur in an instance where poor welfare conditions are discovered or it would otherwise benefit the welfare of the animals involved to be removed from the activity. Variations can occur if adjustments need to be made, whether that is to the licence itself or to the premises/animals referred to in the licence.
- 29. Under paragraph 16(2) of the Regulations if it is necessary to protect the welfare of an animal the local authority may specify in the notice of suspension, variation or revocation that it takes immediate effect.
- 30. A local authority notice must be delivered in one of three ways, in person; by leaving it at or sending it by post to the person's current or last known postal address; or by emailing it to the person's current or last known email address.
- 31. Following the issuing of the notice the licence holder will then have 7 working days to make written representation. Upon receipt of this you must decide whether to continue with the suspension, variation or revocation of the licence or cancel the decision to make changes to the licence. If the licence has been altered to protect the welfare of an animal then you must indicate that this is the reason and whether the change is still in effect.
- 32. The business will not be able to trade once the suspension of a licence has come into effect and cannot do so until the decision is overturned by either the local authority

upon being satisfied that licence conditions are being met or by the First-tier Tribunal who may decide the local authority's decision was incorrect.

- 33. If a licence is suspended for a significant period of time then the local authority should ensure that the animals are checked on regularly to ensure that the welfare of the animals is maintained.
- 34. As with applications the licence holder may appeal to a First-tier Tribunal if they do not agree with the decision made by the local authority. This must be done within 28 days of the decision.
- 35. Note that if representation is not responded to within 7 working days of receipt then the initial decision the local authority made is deemed to be overturned, this is also the case if a licence which is initially suspended has no further action taken on it within 28 days.

Figure 2: Suspension or variation of a licence



Figure 1 - Revocation of a licence



Provision of information to the Secretary of State

- 36. Each local authority must provide the following information to the Secretary of State in writing:
 - (a) the number of licences in force for each licensable activity in its area on each reference date (1st April each year), and
 - (b) the average level of fees it has charged for licences it has granted or renewed for each licensable activity in each reference period.
- 37. These must be provided in an electronic form no later than 31st May each year from 2019 onwards.
- 38. The reference period means the period beginning with 1st October 2018 and ending with 31st March 2019, the year beginning with 1st April 2019 and each subsequent year beginning with an anniversary of 1st April 2019.
- 39. In addition to the information above which must be provided each year Defra may also contact you to request further information such as the average star rating given out for each establishment type or other pieces of information which could be useful for informing policy or the progress on implementation, it is not a requirement of the Regulations to provide this information however.

Inspections during the term of a licence

- 40. There will be cases where inspections must be carried out during the term of a licence.
- 41. For the activity of hiring out horses, there is a requirement for an annual inspection by a listed veterinarian, regardless of the total length of the licence. The local authority must appoint a listed veterinarian to inspect the premises on which the activity is being carried on before the end of the first year after the licence is granted and then each subsequent year.
- 42. Unannounced inspections can also be carried out and should be used in the case of complaints or other information that suggests licence conditions are not being complied with or that the welfare of the animals involved in a licensed activity is at risk.
- 43. During the course of an inspection the inspector may choose to take samples for laboratory testing from the animals on the premises occupied by an operator. The operator must comply with any reasonable request of an inspector to facilitate the identification, examination and sampling of an animal including ensuring that suitable restraints are provided if requested.

Death of a licence holder

44. If a licence holder dies, the procedure in regulation 12 of the Regulations applies. It allows the personal representative of the deceased to take on the licence provided that they inform the local authority within twenty-eight days of the death that they are now the operators of the licensable activity. The licence will then remain in place for three months from the death of the former holder or for the rest of the time it was due to

remain in force if that time period is shorter. The new licence holder should then apply for a new licence one month before the expiry of this new period.

- 45. Additionally a local authority can extend the three month period by up to another three months if requested by the representative and if they believe this time is needed to wind up the estate of the former licence holder.
- 46. If the personal representative does not notify the local authority within 28 days of the death of the licence holder the licence will cease to have effect after those 28 days.

Powers of entry

- 47. An inspector may not enter any part of premises which is used as a private dwelling unless 24 hours' notice of the intended entry is given to the occupier, parts of the premises which are not a private dwelling may be entered by an inspector if the premises is specified in a licence as premises on which the carrying on of an activity is authorised or is a premises on which he reasonably believes an activity to which a licence relates is being carried on.
- 48. A justice of the peace can issue a warrant authorising an inspector or a constable to enter a premises on the request of an inspector or constable using reasonable force if necessary in order to search for evidence of the commission of a relevant offence.
- 49. The justice will only issue a warrant if there are reasonable grounds for believing that a relevant offence has been committed on the premises, or that evidence of the commission of a relevant offence is to be found on the premises, and that section 52 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 is satisfied in relation to the premises.
- 50. All other considerations from the Animal Welfare Act 2006 also apply.

Offences

- 51. It is an offence to breach any licence condition. It is also an offence not to comply with an inspector's request in the process of taking a sample from an animal. Samples should be as non-invasive as possible however inspectors may deem more invasive samples necessary if there are concerns over the welfare of the animals, the provision for sampling is primarily aimed at veterinarians carrying out inspections and it is not expected that samples be taken by those without the training to properly and safely do so.
- 52. It is also an offence to obstruct an inspector who has been appointed by a local authority to enforce the Regulations. Committing either of these offences could result in an unlimited fine.
- 53. Anyone who carries on any of the licensable activities without a licence is liable to imprisonment for a term of up to six months, a fine or both, section 30 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 allows for local authorities to prosecute for any offences under that Act.

Post-conviction powers

54. The post-conviction power from section 34 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 is in place whereby a person convicted of an offence under the Act is disqualified from owning, keeping, participating in the keeping of animals and from being party to an arrangement under which they can control or influence the way an animal is kept, they are also may not transport or deal in animals. Breaching these disqualifications is an offence.

55. The post-conviction power from section 42 of the Animal Welfare Act is also in place whereby a court can cancel a currently existing licence and disqualify a person from owning a licence for any period it sees fit if that person is convicted of an offence under the Act.

Transitional provisions

- 56. Any unexpired licences granted under the Pet Animals Act 1951, Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963, Riding Establishments Act 1964, Riding Establishments Act 1970 will continue in force for the rest of their terms under the relevant Act.
- 57. An unexpired licence granted under the Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 will continue in force for the rest of its term subject to the provisions of that Act, the Breeding of Dogs (Licensing Records) Regulations 1999, the Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999 and the Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999.
- 58. Any registration of a person under the Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925 will continue in force, for six months from the date on which these Regulations come into force. These Regulations come into force on 1 October 2018 so this registration will expire on 1 April 2019.

Fee setting

59. When setting fees, local authorities should have regard to Open for business: LGA guidance on locally set licence fees², which sets out the steps that must be taken to set fair and reasonable fees, and explains the EU Services Directive upon which the LGA guidance is based. Local authorities should also have regard to the BEIS Guidance for Business on the Provision of Services Regulations. As with other areas of licensing, regard should also be had to the principles in the Regulators' Code. "Reasonable anticipated costs" will be fact specific and dependent on the local authority in question. The "Open for business: LGA guidance on locally set licence fees" guidance includes information on what could be considered reasonable.

Activities covered by the licensing fees

60. Regulation 13 of the Regulations set out what a local authority may charge fees for:

- (a) The costs of consideration of an application, including any inspection relating to that consideration;
- (b) The reasonable anticipated costs of consideration of a licence holder's compliance with the Regulations and the licence conditions to which a licence holder is subject. This includes the costs of any further inspections related to compliance;
- (c) The reasonable anticipated costs of enforcement in relation to any licensable activity of an unlicensed operator; and

² https://www.local.gov.uk/open-business-lga-guidance-locally-set-licence-fees

(d) The reasonable anticipated costs of the local authority compiling and submitting the data required by regulation 29 to the Secretary of State.

Determining the length of a licence and the star rating of a business:

Assessing risk & standards

- 61. This guidance describes the risk-based system that must be used when issuing animal activities licences under the Regulations with the exception of "Keeping or Training Animals for Exhibition" where all licences are issued for 3 years. This system should be used to determine both the length of the licence and the star rating to award. Local authorities in England are expected to follow it in full.
- 62. The purpose is to ensure consistency in implementation and operation of the licensing system by local authorities, and to ensure that consumers can be confident that the star rating applied to businesses is an accurate reflection of both their risk level and the animal welfare standards that they adopt.

Animals activity star rating system

63. The scoring matrix for a premises is displayed in Table 1.

Scoring Matrix		Welfare Standards		
		Minor Failings (existing business	Minimum Standards	Higher Standards
Ma	(FIX	that are failing to meet minimum standards)	(as laid down in the schedules and guidance)	(as laid down in the guidance)
Risk	Low Risk	1 Star	3 Star	5 Star
к Ж		1yr licence	2yr licence	3yr licence
		Min 1 unannounced visit within 12 month period	Min 1 unannounced visit within 24 month period	Min 1 unannounced visit within 36 month period
	Higher Risk	1 Star	2 Star	4 Star
		1yr licence	1yr licence	2yr licence
		Min 1 unannounced visit within 12 month period	Min 1 unannounced visit within 12 month period	Min 1 unannounced visit within 24 month period

Table 1 – The Scoring Matrix

- 64. The model takes into account both the animal welfare standards adopted by a business as well as their level of risk (based on elements such as past compliance). This model should be used every time a licence is granted or renewed.
- 65. Businesses must be given a star rating, ranging from 1 star to 5 stars, based on this model, and the results of their inspection. This star rating must be listed on the licence by the issuing local authority officer. The system incorporates safeguards to ensure fairness to businesses. This includes an appeal procedure and a mechanism for requesting a re-inspection for the purposes of re-rating when improvements have been made.
- 66. In order to use this model to calculate the length of the licence and associated star rating, it is necessary to address the following questions, based on the inspection and on records of past compliance:
 - (a) Does the business meet the minimum standards?
 - (b) Does the business meet the higher standards?
 - (c) Is the business low or higher risk?

Does the business meet the minimum standards?

- 67. To obtain a licence for a single activity i.e. dog breeding, the applicant must meet the minimum standards set out in the specific Schedules to the Regulations (i.e. for Dog Breeding, Schedule 6) in addition to those in the General Schedule (Schedule 2). All businesses should meet the minimum standards but see paragraph 69 below for minor failings.
- 68. Additional information on how to meet these standards for each activity are outlined in the relevant specific guidance documents. During an inspection, the inspector should assess whether or not the business is meeting each of these minimum standards. If this is the case, they will qualify for a minimum of a two star rating (but subject to paragraph 69 below for minor failings).

Minor failings

69. If an existing business has a number of minor failings with regards to the minimum standards laid down in the schedules and the guidance, they should receive a risk rating score of 1 star. These minor failings should be predominantly administrative or if they are in relation to standards, they must not compromise the welfare of the animals. If animal welfare is being compromised, a licence should not be granted/renewed or, if already in place, should be suspended or revoked.

Does the business meet the higher standards?

70. For each activity, a number of higher standards have been agreed. Meeting the higher standards is optional but is the only way to gain a higher star rating. The higher standards are classified in to two types: required and optional and are outlined in the relevant guidance documents for the activity in question. To distinguish required standards from optional ones they have each been given a specific colour which is used in each guidance document. Higher standards that appear in blue text are required, whereas those that appear in red text are optional. To qualify as meeting the higher standards, the business needs to achieve all of the required higher standards as well as a minimum of 50% of the optional higher standards. During an

inspection, the inspector should assess whether or not the business meets the required number of higher standards.

71. Where a scheme utilising UKAS accredited certification is operational, it will be operated against either the minimum or higher standards as set out in the certification scheme criteria and as agreed with UKAS as part of the accreditation process. If a business is certified by a UKAS-accredited certification body to the higher standards, they should automatically be considered as meeting these standards, unless there is significant evidence of poor animal welfare or non-compliance is identified during the inspection.

Is the business low or high risk?

- 72. Table 2 Risk Scoring Table below should be used to determine if a business that is not certified by a UKAS accredited body is low or higher risk.
- 73. The risk assessment is not meant to reconsider specific issues taken into account in assessment of compliance with the minimum or higher standards. It does, however, require an assessment on the likelihood of satisfactory compliance being maintained in the future.
- 74. In considering risk, "management" covers the system as a whole. For a multi-site business, the company wide management system and procedures are a key element of this but local site / premises management is also important as that will influence how these systems and procedures are applied
- 75. Assessments of the written procedures should be based on the principle of proportionality, i.e. commensurate with the nature and size of the business. For small businesses which present lower risks, it may be sufficient that the business has in place good welfare practices and understands and applies them, i.e. it meets its prerequisites.

Certification by a UKAS-accredited body

- 76. Any business that is certified by a UKAS-accredited body and has three or more years of compliance history with this body should be considered low risk and receive the higher star ratings (unless there is significant evidence of poor animal welfare or non-compliance) as the welfare and risk management systems have been reviewed by an accredited third party.
- 77. New businesses that do not have three years of compliance history with a local authority or a UKAS-accredited body should automatically be considered high risk as they have no operational history.
- 78. If concerns are raised at the inspection indicating that the certified business may not be operating to the high standards or controlling risks appropriately, the inspector will address these in line with the guidance on procedural issues and the risk rating score adjusted accordingly. In addition these concerns should be reported directly to the UKAS-accredited body so that they can also intervene and / or suspend or withdraw the business's certification.
- 79. Where businesses are certified by a UKAS-accredited body, that body can inform the relevant local authority with a list of the certified businesses in their area. Where notified, and where covered by confidentiality waivers, the local authority may request the UKAS-accredited body's inspection reports and can use that information to inform

its own inspection including using the UKAS-accredited body's assessment of compliance.

- 80. For existing licensed businesses that are not certified by a UKAS-accredited body that are applying for a licence renewal, the following risk management table (Table 2) should be used to generate a risk score for the business. Each element should be reviewed and a score given (1 for low risk and 2 for high risk). An overall score can then be arrived at.
- 81. Where there is any uncertainty, if a business cannot provide satisfactory evidence that it is low risk in a given category, it should be scored as high risk.
- 82. A score of 17 or less is required for the business to be classed as low risk and a score of 18 or more means that the business will be classed as higher risk.

	Low (Score1)	High (Score 2)	Score
Compliance History - inspections	Documented evidence from formal inspections over the previous three years reveal consistent and high levels of compliance in terms of welfare standards and risk management.	Formal inspections over the previous three years reveal some degree of non-compliance that has required the intervention of the inspector for the business to ultimately recognise and address these. More serious breaches would attract other enforcement action: suspension, revocation, prosecution.	
Compliance History – follow up action	No evidence of follow-up action by local authority in the last year apart from providing the licence holder with a copy of the inspection report, or sending them a letter identifying some minor, administrative areas for improvement (e.g. minor record keeping issues).	Follow up action by the local authority, such as sending them letters, triggered by low level non-compliance that is not addressed, or the business does not recognise the significance of the need to address the non- compliance.	
Compliance History – re- inspection	No re-inspection necessary (apart from standard unannounced inspection) before next planned licence inspection / renewal	Re-inspection necessary to ensure compliance.	

Table 2 – Risk Scoring Table

	Low (Score1)	High (Score 2)	Score
Complaint History – complaints to the LA	No complaints received direct to the LA that are justified in relation to welfare standards or procedural issues during the previous three years.	Low level substantiated complaints identifying concerns over the business / licence holder have been received within the previous three years.	
Complaint History – complaints to the business	Licence holder records and documents any feedback received directly, in order to demonstrate compliance and willingness to address issues, and can provide evidence of this.	Licence holder does not record feedback received directly or show willingness to address any issues identified.	
Appreciation of welfare standards - enrichment	Sound understanding by the licence holder of relevant environmental enrichment applicable to the activity (guided by expert advice), with demonstrated implementation.	Little environmental enrichment present, inconsistently used and its importance not understood or really valued.	
Appreciation of hazards / risks	Licence holder clearly understands their role and responsibilities under the legislation. Hazards to both staff and animals clearly understood, properly controlled and reviewed with supporting evidence where applicable.	Licence holder not fully engaged with their role/responsibilities, lacks time to fulfil role, no system for review and reassessment of hazards to both animals and staff.	
Appreciation of hazards / risks - maintenance	A suitably planned maintenance, repair and replacement program for infrastructure and equipment is in place.	No planned maintenance program. Building, installations and equipment allowed to deteriorate before action is implemented.	
Appreciation of hazards / risks – knowledge and experience	Staff have specialist and appropriate knowledge of the taxa / species that are kept. There is sufficient staff, time and resource for daily, adequate routine monitoring, evidenced through records and staff rotas.	Key staff lack experience / knowledge of the species. Staff appear overburdened and / or unsupported by management, corners being cut.	

	Low (Score1)	High (Score 2)	Score
Appreciation of hazards / risks – dealing with issues	Clear defined roles / responsibilities of staff, with clear processes for reporting and addressing any identified issues.	Lack of any process, or ownership and responsibility within the business to identify and deal with issues.	
Welfare management procedures – written procedures	Written procedures / policies clearly documented, implemented and reviewed appropriately.	Limited written procedures / polices. No overall strategic control or direction.	
Welfare management procedures – supervision of staff	Appropriate supervision of staff evident where applicable.	Inadequate supervision of staff evident on inspection or from the training records.	
Welfare management procedures – record keeping	All required records maintained and made available.	Poor standard of record keeping, records out of date or appear to be being manufactured – relevance of records not appreciated.	
Welfare management procedures - training	Planned training programme for staff to review and assess competency, with documented training records.	Little or no evidence of relevant training or system for review and reassessment.	
Total Score of 17 or less = Low risk Score of 18 or more = Higher risk.			
Risk Rating			

Frequently asked questions

The process of providing a risk rating

Q1. When should businesses be rated?

83. Businesses should be rated following an inspection that takes place prior to grant/renewal of the licence or a requested re-inspection. Businesses may also be re-rated following an unannounced or additional inspection (e.g. following a complaint), if major issues are highlighted that require follow up action.

Q2. When should new businesses be rated?

84. New businesses should be rated following their initial inspection.

Q3. Where businesses have a licence for multiple activities within the scope of the regulations, should each activity be rated separately?

85. The licence holder should receive only one rating, which must cover all the activities. Where they are meeting different standards for different activities (e.g. meeting the higher standards for dog breeding, but the minimum standards for dog boarding), the overall score should reflect the lower of the two.

Q4. What information should the local authority provide with the star rating following the inspection at which a rating was determined?

- 86. The following information should be provided in writing:
 - (a) The star rating itself.
 - (b) Details of why the business was rated as it was. This should include a list of the higher standards that the business is currently failing to meet, or a list of the minimum standards that the business is failing to meet if it is considered to be in the minor failing category. This should also include a copy of the risk management table showing the scores under each point. Details recorded must be sufficient to support the score given for each element to facilitate internal monitoring or enable review where an appeal is made.
 - (c) Details of the appeals process and the deadline by which an appeal must be made.

The appeals process

87. To ensure fairness to businesses, local authorities must have an appeal procedure in place for businesses to dispute the star rating given in respect of their business. The appeal procedure is relevant where the business wishes to dispute the star rating given as not reflecting the animal welfare standards and risk level of their business at the time of the inspection. This should not be used if the business has made improvements to their business and wishes to be reassessed – in this case, they should apply for re-inspection

Q5. How can a business appeal their star rating?

- 88. If a business wishes to appeal the star rating given by the 'inspecting officer' (i.e. the officer undertaking the inspection) on behalf of the local authority, the appeal should be made in writing (including by email) to the local authority.
- 89. A business disputing a rating should be encouraged to discuss this informally first with the 'inspecting officer' so that there is an opportunity to help explain to the business

how the rating was worked out, as this may help resolve the matter without the business having to lodge an appeal. Any such discussions do not form part of the formal appeal process and do not change the deadline within which an appeal must be lodged. This should be made clear to the business so that they may lodge an appeal, and may subsequently withdraw it, if they wish.

90. Businesses have 21 days (including weekends and bank holidays) following the issue of their licence in which to appeal the star rating.

Q6. How will a local authority determine the outcome of the appeal?

- 91. The appeal should be determined either by the head of the department that issued the licence within the local authority, or by a designated deputy, or by the equivalent in another authority. No officer involved in the production of the rating, or in the inspection on which the rating is based should consider the appeal.
- 92. The local authority then has 21 days (including weekends and bank holidays) from the date they receive the appeal to consider the appeal, within which time they must issue a decision to the business.
- 93. A local authority will determine the outcome of an appeal by considering the paperwork associated with the inspection and the past record of the business. In some circumstances, a further visit to the establishment may be required. The appeal process should be transparent. The costs of any additional inspections related to the appeal will be borne by the applicant unless it results in a higher rating being awarded. This will depend on the nature of the dispute and whether a decision can or cannot be made on the basis of the paperwork.

Q7. What if the business disagrees with the outcome of the appeal?

94. If the business disagrees with the outcome of the appeal, they can challenge the local authority's decision by means of judicial review. The business also has recourse to the local authority complaints procedure (including taking the matter to the Local Government Ombudsman where appropriate) if they consider that a council service has not been properly delivered

Requests for re-inspections for re-rating purposes

- 95. To ensure fairness to businesses, local authorities must have a procedure in place for undertaking re-inspections at the request of the business for re-assessing their star rating.
- 96. The re-inspection mechanism applies in cases where businesses with ratings of '1' to '4' have accepted their rating and have subsequently made the necessary improvements to address non-compliances identified during the local authority's previous inspection. Businesses should be aware that re-inspection for re-rating purposes could lead to a lower rating being awarded rather than an increase in rating.

Q7. Who pays for a re-inspection visit?

97. Re-inspection falls under full cost recovery, and so the business will be required to pay for the costs of the inspection.

Q8. When is the inspection carried out?

98. The re-inspection should be carried out within three months of receipt of the request. Where an inspection does not occur within the three months, the business can raise the issue with the head of the licensing department within the local authority. If the matter cannot be resolved, the business has recourse to the local authority complaints procedure.

Q9. How many re-inspections can a business request?

99. There is no limit to the number of re-inspection visits a business can request, however, there will be a fee for each visit charged at full cost recovery.

Q10. How should a business request a re-inspection?

100. The request should be made in writing (including by email) and should outline the case for a re-inspection, i.e. it should indicate the actions that have been taken by the business to improve the level of compliance or welfare since the inspection and, where appropriate, should include supporting evidence. The supporting case should refer to those actions that the local authority informed the business would need to be made in order to achieve a higher rating.

Q11. Must the local authority accede to all requests for re-inspections?

101. No. If the case made by the business is not substantiated or insufficient evidence is provided, the local authority can refuse to undertake a re-inspection on that basis. In doing so, the local authority must explain why the request is being refused at this stage and should re-emphasise the priority actions that must be taken in order to improve the rating and indicate what evidence will be required for agreement to a re-inspection to be made on further request. If the business disagrees with the local authority's decision to refuse a request for a re-inspection, they can raise the issue with the head of the licensing department within the local authority. If the matter cannot be resolved, the business has recourse to the local authority complaints procedure.

Q12. Where there is a supporting case, must a re-inspection be made or can a new rating be given on the basis of documentary evidence?

102. A re-inspection must be made. A new rating must not be given on the basis of documentary evidence only.

Q13. Where a re-inspection is to be undertaken, should this be unannounced?

103. This will depend on the reason for the re-inspection. This can be by appointment, unless an unannounced visit is necessary to ensure that compliance is checked properly (e.g. if the non-compliance was related to cleanliness standards).

Q14. If standards have not improved or have deteriorated at the time of the reinspection, should a lower rating be given?

104. At the time of the re-inspection, the local authority officer should not only check that the required improvements have been made, but should also assess the ongoing standards. This means that the rating could go up, down or remain the same, change in licence length should be handled using the varying process described in paragraphs 25-35.

Q15. Should the ratings be published?

105. The star rating must be added to the licence and the licence should be displayed by the business. In addition, we encourage local authorities to maintain a list of licensed businesses and their associated ratings on their websites.



© Crown copyright 2018

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence v.3. To view this licence visit <u>www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/</u> or email <u>PSI@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk</u>

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at:

animal.welfare@defra.gsi.gov.uk

Appendix 2

Licences Issued under the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018

Statistical Information

Table 1

Licensable activities authorised by licence	Number of licences
Providing home boarding of dogs	8
Providing boarding in kennels for dogs	6
Providing boarding for cats	6
Providing boarding in kennels for dogs and boarding for cats	5
Selling animals as pets	5
Hiring out horses	4
Providing dog day care	1
Providing home boarding of dogs and dog day care	1
Selling animals as pets and providing boarding for cats	1
Breeding dogs	1
Total	38

Table 2

Star rating (length of licence)	Number of licences
1 star (1 year) licences	11
2 star (1 year) licences	3
3 star (2 year) licences	3
4 star (2 year) licences	5
5 star (3 year) licences	16
Total	38

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

LICENSING COMMITTEE

18th Nov 2019

18th November 2019

Review of Street Collection Policy and Regulations

Animal Activity Licensing Update – Information Report

9th March 2020

To Be Allocated To Suitable Available Dates in 2019/2020

Review of Council's policy on the Guidance Relating to the Relevance of Convictions and Cautions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers – Approval to consultation

Guidance Relating to the Relevance of Convictions and Cautions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers – To consider the results of the consultation

This page is intentionally left blank